2003

West Valley City v. Douglas W. Martin, dba Fantastic Sam's and Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellate jurisdiction over this case is rested in the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to §78-2a-3(2)(j), Utah Code Annotated.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE I. Did the trial court incorrectly interpret the provisions of the Martin Lease Agreement (the “Martin Lease”) which prohibit Martin from receiving compensation in the event the premises is acquired through eminent domain?

A trial court’s interpretation of the words of an unambiguous, integrated contract is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness on appeal. *Elm, Inc., v. M.T. Enterprises, Inc.*, 968 P.2d 861 (Utah App. 1998).

The propriety of a trial court’s summary judgment order is a matter of law. In deciding whether summary judgment is appropriate, the appellate court need only review whether the trial court erred in applying the relevant law and whether a material fact was in dispute. *WebBank v. American General Annuity Service Corp.*, 2002 UT 88 ¶10, 54 P.3d 1139,1143 (Utah 2002).

ISSUE II. Does the phrase “If the whole of the premises shall be acquired or condemned by eminent domain for any public or quasi-public use or purpose...” in §19.01 of the Martin Lease refer only to acquisition by eminent domain, or is this provision of the Lease also triggered if the City purchases the property for a public use?

A trial court’s interpretation of the words of an unambiguous, integrated contract is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness on appeal. *Elm, Inc., v. M.T. Enterprises,*

Inc., 968 P.2d 861 (Utah App. 1998).

The propriety of a trial court's summary judgment order is a matter of law. In deciding whether summary judgment is appropriate, the appellate court need only review whether the trial court erred in applying the relevant law and whether a material fact was in dispute. *WebBank v. American General Annuity Service Corp.*, 2002 UT 88 ¶10, 54 P.3d 1139,1143 (Utah 2002).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES

This case is a matter of contract interpretation and there are no relevant constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances or rules.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves the exercise of the City's power of eminent domain to acquire a certain premises in which Martin held a leasehold interest. The premises leased by Martin was located on a larger parcel which had been purchased by the City for remodeling into a Justice Court and Public Safety Complex.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

On July 1, 2001, the West Valley Justice Court began operation. The court entered into a one-year lease with the Court Administrator's Office to lease space in the Third District Court, West Valley Department courthouse until June 30, 2002; therefore, on July 1,

2002, the Justice Court was required to move to a different location. (Record pages 109-117) Also, the West Valley City Police department had grown to over 180 sworn officers and had outgrown its accommodations at West Valley City Hall.

Located next to West Valley City Hall at 3575 South Market Street is a three-story office/retail building (the “Heartland Building”), which was owned by Heartland West Valley Commercial Limited Partners II. Early in 2001, the West Valley City Council recognized that the most efficient solution to the City’s Justice Court and Police-housing dilemma was the conversion of the Heartland Building into a Justice Court and Public Safety Complex. In furtherance of that goal, the City Council took the following actions. First, on June 19, 2001, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 01-131 (Record pages 138-147) which authorized the issuance of up to \$21,500,000 in municipal bonds for, among other things, acquiring and improving a building and related appurtenances to be used as a Public Safety Complex. Shortly thereafter, on July 3, 2001, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 01-154 (Record 135-137) which authorized purchase of the Heartland Building. Following a period of negotiation, the closing on the building took place on September 19, 2001, and ownership of the building passed from Heartland to West Valley City.

When the City purchased the Heartland Building on September 19, 2001, Douglas W. Martin, d.b.a. Fantastic Sam’s, was a first-floor tenant of the Heartland Building. The approximately 1500 square-foot area leased by Martin was located in the center of the proposed Justice Court facility, and it was necessary for the City to use that space in order to

construct the Justice Court.

By certified letter dated November 27, 2001, which was delivered on November 29, 2001, West Valley City provided Martin with notice of the City's intent to begin construction of the Justice Court and Public Safety Complex on March 1, 2002 and of the requirement that he vacate the premises prior to that date. (Record 170-176) Martin indicated by letter to the City that he would not vacate the property on March 1, 2002; therefore, on or about January 30, 2002, the City filed this action in unlawful detainer and eminent domain to acquire the leasehold interest of Martin in the Heartland Building. (Record pages 1-59) The City also filed a Motion for Immediate Occupancy of the premises. (Record pages 65-67) The case was assigned to Judge Brian of the West Valley Department of the Third District Court. Martin filed a counter claim against the City on or about February 5, 2002. (Record pages 68-81) Martin also filed a Motion for Change of Venue, which was granted by Judge Brian. (Record pages 86-88, 156-158) The case was then transferred to Judge Fratto in the Murray Department of the Third District Court.

On February 25, 2002, following a hearing before Judge Fratto, the trial court issued an Order of Immediate Occupancy to the City. (Record pages 221-223) Pursuant to the terms of that Order, the City deposited the sum of \$30,100 into the court. (Record 269) Martin subsequently withdrew that sum from the court. (Record pages 397-402)

During July and August 2002, the parties cross filed Motions for Summary Judgment. (Record pages 227-229, 283-285) Following oral argument of the parties, Judge Fratto issued

a Memorandum Decision on March 18, 2003. (A copy of the Memorandum Decision is attached hereto as Exhibit A). (Record pages 356-361) Judge Fratto's decision eliminated many of the claims of the parties, but allowed the issue of compensation for a taking under the eminent domain statutes to proceed to trial. On April 8, 2003, the City filed a Petition for Permission to Appeal an Interlocutory Order with the Utah Court of Appeals. (Record pages 362-364) That Petition was transferred to the Utah Supreme Court by the Court of Appeals on May 15, 2003. (Record pages 377-378)

On July 25, 2003, the Utah Supreme Court granted the City's Petition for Permission to Appeal an Interlocutory Order. (Record pages 403-404) Subsequently, the case was transferred back to the Court of Appeals for resolution. (Record 406-407)

DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT

The trial court issued a Memorandum Decision on March 18, 2003. (A copy of the Memorandum Decision is attached hereto as Exhibit A). The Memorandum Decision determined at there were no material facts in dispute and that the motions for summary judgment could be resolved by interpretation of the lease agreement between the parties and by application of applicable law. (Record pages 357-361) The trial court determined that because the City had purchased the underlying fee interest in the property, the City could not take the property by eminent domain. However, the trial court also determined that the City, as fee owner of the property, does have the authority to use eminent domain to acquire the leasehold interest of Martin.

Based on that analysis, the trial court issued a Memorandum Decision which dismissed the City's unlawful detainer claim, but retained the eminent domain claim to acquire the leasehold interest of Martin. The trial court's Memorandum Decision also dismissed all of the counterclaims of Martin, except Martin's claim for compensation for the leasehold interest under §63-30-10.5 Utah Code Annotated.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following facts are undisputed and material to the Court's consideration of the City's appeal.

a. In June 1998, Martin and Heartland West Valley Commercial Limited Partners II executed a lease (the "Martin Lease") for the Fantastic Sam's hair salon located on the first floor of the office building located at 3575 South Market Street, West Valley City, Utah. (Record page 96) (A copy of the Martin Lease is attached hereto as Exhibit B).

b. On September 19, 2001, West Valley City (the "City") purchased the above-mentioned office building from Heartland West Valley Commercial Limited Partners II. This purchase included an assignment of the Martin Lease from Heartland to the City. (Record pages 9-11)

c. The City commenced an eminent domain action against Martin's property interest on or about January 30, 2002 and the court granted the City's Motion for Order of Immediate Occupancy on or about February 25, 2002. (Record pages 221-223).

d. The City took actual possession of the leasehold premises on or about March 4,

2002. The building was remodeled into a Justice Court and Public Safety Building. (Record pages 280-282)

e. Section 19.01 of the Martin Lease states:

19.01 Total Condemnation of Premises.

If the whole of the premises shall be acquired or condemned by eminent domain for any public or quasi-public use or purpose, then the Lease Term shall cease and terminate as of the day possession of the premises is taken by the condemning authority and all rentals shall be paid up to that date and Tenant shall have no claim against Landlord nor the condemning authority for the value of any unexpired Lease Term of this Lease.

Section 19.04 of the Martin Lease states:

19.04 Landlord's Damages. In the event of any condemnation or taking as aforesaid, whether in whole or in part, Tenant shall not be entitled to any part of the award paid for such condemnation, and Landlord shall be entitled to receive the full amount of such award; Tenant hereby expressly waiving any right or claim to any part thereof.

(Record pages 29-30)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. MARTIN'S LEASE CLEARLY STATES THAT HE SHALL RECEIVE NO COMPENSATION AS A RESULT OF THE ACQUISITION OF THE PREMISES BY EMINENT DOMAIN.

Article XIX of the Martin Lease contains a valid "condemnation clause" by which Martin agrees to accept no compensation for the taking of his leasehold for a public use. One of the triggering mechanisms for the "condemnation clause" is the acquisition of the "premises" by eminent domain. The Martin Lease defines premises as the leasehold interest of Martin in a portion of the entire property; therefore, the "condemnation clause" is

triggered by the City's acquisition of the leasehold interest by eminent domain and, under the terms of the Martin Lease, he receives no compensation for his leasehold interest. The trial court misinterpreted these sections of the Martin Lease and its summary judgment decision that Martin is entitled to a trial on the value of his leasehold interest should be reversed.

Also, under common law relating to "automatic lease termination clauses", lessees are is not entitled to compensation for their leasehold interest unless the lease specifies otherwise. The trial court found and enforced such a clause in the Martin Lease; therefore, Martin is entitled to no compensation for his leasehold interest and the City's motion for summary judgment on that issue should have been granted by the trial court.

II. THE MARTIN LEASE UNAMBIGUOUSLY STATES THAT THE LEASEHOLD INTEREST TERMINATES UPON ACQUISITION OF THE PREMISES FOR A PUBLIC PURPOSE AND THAT MARTIN RECEIVES NO COMPENSATION.

The trial court failed to use proper rules of contract construction when it found that the City's purchase of the entire parcel of property did not trigger the provisions of Article XIX of the Martin Lease (the "condemnation clause" provisions). The unambiguous terms of §19.01 and §19.04 of the Martin Lease indicate that the provisions of those sections can be triggered by any acquisition of the premises for a public use, not just through eminent domain. If the trial court was correct in interpreting the term "premises" to mean the property purchased by the City, rather than the Martin leasehold interest, then the "no lessee compensation" provisions of §19.01 and §19.04 should have been triggered by the City's

purchase of the underlying interest in the property, or a combination of that purchase and the condemnation of the Martin Lease.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. IN THE MARTIN LEASE AGREEMENT, MARTIN CLEARLY AGREES TO FOREGO COMPENSATION IN THE EVENT THAT THE PREMISES IS ACQUIRED BY EMINENT DOMAIN.

The facts of this case are not in dispute. The City has acquired the property it needed to construct the Justice Court and Public Safety Complex by both purchasing the underlying fee interest and then acquiring the Martin Lease through eminent domain. Through clear and unambiguous lease terms, Martin bargained away his claim to any compensation or a condemnation award. Although this result may seem harsh, Martin is bound by the terms of the bargain that he made. The trial court failed to recognize this and refused to grant summary judgment to the City with respect to the issue of Martin's compensation for the taking of his leasehold interest.

The basic common law rule is that a lessee may share, with the lessor, eminent domain compensation to the extent of the lessee's interest. However, the parties may agree otherwise in their lease. *Alamo Land & Cattle Co., Inc. v. Arizona*, 424 U.S. 295, 304, 96 S.Ct. 910, 916 (Ariz. 1976).

In this case, Martin has explicitly bargained away his right to receive any compensation for the taking of his leasehold for public use. Article XIX of the Martin Lease controls the actions of the parties when the premises is acquired for a public use. The two

specifically applicable sections of the Martin Lease are as follows:

SECTION 19.01 Total Condemnation of Premises.

If the whole of the premises shall be acquired or condemned by eminent domain for any public or quasi-public use or purpose, then the Lease Term shall cease and terminate as of the day possession of the premises is taken by the condemning authority and all rentals shall be paid up to that date *and Tenant shall have no claim against Landlord nor the condemning authority for the value of any unexpired Lease Term of this Lease.* (Emphasis added.)

SECTION 19.04 Landlord's Damages.

In the event of any condemnation or taking as aforesaid, whether in whole or in part, *Tenant shall not be entitled to any part of the award paid for such condemnation,* and Landlord shall be entitled to receive the full amount of such award; *Tenant hereby expressly waiving any right or claim to any part thereof.* (Emphasis added.)

In interpreting Article XIX of the Martin Lease, the trial court took the clearly inconsistent positions that the acquisition of the Martin leasehold interest by eminent domain did not trigger the language of §19.01 for purposes of the compensation provision, but did trigger the §19.01 provision relating to the termination of the Martin Lease. The trial court stated in the Memorandum Decision that: “Article XIX of the lease, taken as a whole, must be interpreted to mean that defendant has no claim for damages if the property is taken by eminent domain. The City purchased the property and it is by that commercial transaction plaintiff owns the property and building in fee. It could not then, and in fact has not, taken the property by eminent domain.” The court then found that “The effect of condemning the leasehold interest is that the lease is terminated, and the termination leaves no contract upon which there can be a breach.” (Record pages 356-361)

Obviously both positions cannot be correct and it is clear that the “no lessee compensation” provisions are the sections that the trial court misconstrued. In every other instance in this case, the trial court finds that the City is exercising its power of eminent domain. It first made that determination when it issued the Order of Immediate Occupancy and stated “The Court hereby finds that pursuant to §78-34-3, Utah Code Annotated, the Plaintiff has the right of eminent domain to acquire the leasehold interests of the Defendant.” (Record page 222) Then, in the Memorandum Decision it specifically found that the “City has the authority to condemn the defendant’s leasehold interest.” (Record page 358)

The disconnect seems to be in the trial court’s determination that the City’s acquisition of the underlying fee interest in the property did not trigger the condemnation provisions of Article XIX of the Martin Lease. The trial court specifically found that the City’s purchase of the entire parcel did not terminate the leasehold interest of Martin. Then it found that the filing of an eminent domain action by the City did trigger the same termination provision. Apparently the trial court simply forgot to apply that rationale to the compensation provisions of the same sections of the Martin Lease.

Also, the trial court seems to make a distinction between the condemnation of the leasehold interest of Martin and the “property” or “premises”, which it apparently viewed as the entire parcel that was purchased by the City. Although this is also inconsistent, the trial court may have determined that the condemnation of the leasehold interest was not a

condemnation of the “premises” as used in the “no lessee compensation” portions of §19.01 and §19.04 of the Martin Lease.

This interpretation conflicts with other provisions of the Martin Lease itself. In §2.02, the Martin Lease defines “premises” as:

SECTION 2.02 Premises Defined

For the purposes hereof, the premises shall be deemed to extend to and include the interior faces of all exterior walls, or to the building line where there is no wall, or to the center line of any walls separating the premises from other Tenant premises (whether Leased or not, and whether used for store purposes or not) in the Shopping Center, and shall consist of the space therein, including the structural floors and the bottom of the roof above, together with all permitted mezzanines, balconies and outside selling areas, if any (herein called the “floor area”) and other appurtenances specifically granted herein, but excepting and reserving to Landlord and other Tenants the use of the exterior walls and roof.

Also, §2.01 of the Martin Lease provides as follows:

SECTION 2.01 Lease of Premises

Landlord, in consideration of the rent to be paid and the covenants to be performed by Tenant, does hereby demise and Lease unto Tenant, and Tenant hereby Leases and takes from Landlord, for the Lease Term, at the rental and upon the covenants and conditions hereinbefore and hereinafter set forth, that space located in the Shopping Center and described on Exhibit C attached hereto and made a part hereof (herein called the “premises”).

Clearly, the “premises” as used in Article XIX of the Martin Lease refers to Martin’s leasehold interest; his physical occupation of a portion of the building owned by the City. Premises is not defined as, nor does it refer to, the property and building as a whole. It is precisely this right to physically occupy a portion of the building that the City is acquiring

through the eminent domain action. In the bundle of sticks that make up complete ownership of property, it is the one stick that the City did not own. When §19.01 of the Martin Lease states that: “If the whole of the premises shall be acquired or condemned by eminent domain for any public or quasi-public use or purpose...,” it is referring to the acquisition or condemnation of the “premises” as defined in §2.02 of the Martin Lease, which is the leasehold interest, not the underlying fee interest in the property which had been purchased by the City.

Given the language of Article XIX of the Martin Lease, the trial court clearly made an error in not enforcing the unambiguous Lease provisions and in denying summary judgment to the City. It is not unusual for a lessor and lessee to apportion eminent domain compensation through such lease terms. “Condemnation clauses” are fully enforceable lease provisions. *United States v. Petty Motor Co.*, 327 U.S. 372, 376, 66 S.Ct. 596, 90 L.Ed. 729 (1946). Utah courts have also relied on the terms of a lease to apportion compensation to a lessee. *Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Daskalas*, 785 P.2d 1112, 1120 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). (“To resolve this issue we look to the terms of the lease agreements.”) This concept is so well settled that the Court of Appeals of Ohio stated, “We think it is not to be controverted that a landlord and tenant may, by a properly worded contract, provide that the tenant shall receive no compensation when the leased premises are taken by right of eminent domain. It is also not subject to dispute that a landlord and tenant may, by a properly worded contract, provide that in the event that the leased premises are taken by condemnation

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