2003

West Valley City, a Utah municipal corporation v.
Douglas W. Martin, d.b.a. Fantastic Sam's; and Does
1 through 10 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. The lower court correctly ruled that the issue of just compensation must go to trial.

The City's argument that the Court misapplied the condemnation provisions of the Martin Lease is based on the false premise that those provisions were actually triggered by the City's exercise of its eminent domain power. The lease terminated as a matter of

law when the City condemned his leasehold interest because the City could not condemn its own interest in the building, which is necessary to trigger the condemnation clauses in the lease. The issue therefore shifts from contract construction into constitutional rights. Under Article I, § 22 of the Utah Constitution, a condemning authority must pay for property it takes. The City cannot get around this obligation in this case. Nor can the City take Mr. Martin's leasehold and pay the condemnation award to itself.

In addition, the City's argument about the definition of "premises" in § 19.01 of the lease is misguided. Judge Fratto ruled that the lease terminated as a matter of law when the City condemned Mr. Martin's leasehold, not because of any provision in § 19.01. Hence, whether the word "premises" in § 19.01 refers to the building and underlying fee or whether it refers exclusively to the 1,500 square feet of the building leased by Mr. Martin is irrelevant and the City's argument on this point should be disregarded.

Finally, the case of *Fiberglas Fabricators, Inc. v. Kylberg*, 799 P.2d 371 (Colo. 1990) is completely distinguishable from Mr. Martin's situation. The holding in *Fiberglas* presumes that the landlord and the condemning authority will be two different entities. That is not the case here. There is no landlord whose fee has been taken in this case. The fee was purchased by the City. The only person left with any interest is Mr. Martin by virtue of his leasehold, who, under the circumstances, has become the functional equivalent of the landlord for the purposes of *Fiberglas*.

II. Mr. Martin's leasehold could not have terminated upon the City's purchase of the building and the City's agreement to be bound by the terms of the lease.

The City's tortured reading of § 19.01 (i.e., that under § 19.01 the lease terminated when the City purchased the building in 2001) is incorrect. The lease could not have terminated when the City purchased the building in September 2001 because the City agreed to be bound by the terms of the lease at that time.

In addition, the City's argument over the word "or" in § 19.01 is a red herring as none of the events required to trigger § 19.01 occurred when the City purchased the building. But even if the idea of acquiring the building is separated out from the concept of condemning the building by eminent domain, it is clear in the context of Article XIX of the lease (titled "Eminent Domain") that the word "acquired" is nothing more than a euphemism for taking the property. In either case, whether the City takes the Property or condemns it, the City must pay Mr. Martin for his leasehold interest.

Finally, it cannot be in the public's best interest to allow the City to take private property without paying for it. The trial court correctly ruled that the issue of just compensation should go to trial.

ARGUMENT

FIRST ISSUE ON APPEAL: DID THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRET THE EMINENT DOMAIN PROVISIONS IN THE MARTIN LEASE AGREEMENT?

In September 2001, the City purchased the Heartland Building and assumed Mr. Martin's lease, which provided the landlord would guaranty him the quiet use and enjoyment of the premises for the term of the lease. (Addendum Exhibits B and C.) Approximately one month later, the City told Mr. Martin that if it had to condemn his leasehold, the City would be "generous," "fair," and equitable. (Addendum Exhibit A, ¶ 9.) The City did, in fact, condemn Mr. Martin's leasehold but has been anything but generous, fair or equitable. The City now refuses to compensate Mr. Martin for the value of his leasehold even though it is clearly required to do so under Utah law. For the reasons that follow, this Court should uphold the lower court's ruling and allow the issue of just compensation to go to trial.

A: The Court correctly interpreted the provisions of the Martin Lease: the lease terminated as a matter of law when the City condemned Mr. Martin's leasehold.

The first issue raised by the City is whether the Court incorrectly interpreted the tenant condemnation compensation provisions of the Martin Lease (§ 19.01 in particular) in ruling that the issue of just compensation should go to trial. The underlying premise of the City's argument is that Judge Fratto actually relied on and interpreted § 19.01 of the lease when he ruled that the lease terminated as a result of the City's condemnation of the leasehold. This premise is false. Judge Fratto did not say anything about condemnation

triggering section 19.01 of the lease in his opinion, nor did he mean to. What the judge said was,

The effect of condemning the leasehold interest is that the lease is terminated, and termination of the lease leaves no contract upon which there can be a claim of breach. In other words, the City cannot both have the ability to terminate the lease through condemnation of the leasehold interest and then be in breach of the lease for doing so. Thus, *all claims arising from or based on the agreement cannot be maintained.*” (Emphasis added.)

(Record, 358. *See also* Addendum Exhibit E.)

Notwithstanding the clear language of the order (i.e., that no claims based on the agreement can be maintained by either party) the City argues that Judge Fratto took inconsistent positions by ruling that the condemnation of Mr. Martin’s leasehold triggered the termination provisions of § 19.01 but did *not* trigger the no-tenant compensation provision. The City has misconstrued the lower court’s holding. Judge Fratto ruled that *neither* provision was triggered because the lease terminated as a matter of law when the City condemned Mr. Martin’s leasehold interest, irrespective of any provisions in § 19.01. Hence, the lower court has not taken inconsistent positions and the City’s argument that the condemnation of Mr. Martin’s leasehold triggered the lease termination clause in § 19.01 is misplaced.

The real issue before this Court is whether the lower court correctly held that condemnation of Mr. Martin’s leasehold terminated the lease as a matter of law, independent of any of the lease provisions. The answer is yes. Since the lessee does not own land, the condemnation of a leasehold interest condemns the lease itself. It was

therefore impossible for the City to take Mr. Martin's leasehold without taking, and destroying, the lease itself. In *Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Daskalas*, 785 P.2d 1112, 1121 (Ut. Ct. App. 1989), the Utah Court of Appeals acknowledged, "'The generally accepted rule is that if the condemning authority takes an estate in fee simple absolute in all of the real property covered by the lease, the lease thereupon terminates.'" Citing 51C C.J.S. *Landlord & Tenant* § 98 (1968). Once the City acquired Mr. Martin's leasehold, the City held all the "sticks" of property ownership. Mr. Martin's leasehold, and the lease that gave rise to it, merged into the City's fee interest. Thus, the lease terminated without any of its condemnation provisions being triggered, just as Judge Fratto said.¹

B. The City Must Pay Mr. Martin for his Leasehold.

Because the lease terminated with the condemnation of Mr. Martin's leasehold, the issue shifts from contract construction to constitutional rights; the parties are left with the provisions of the Utah Constitution and the Eminent Domain Statute to govern whether Mr. Martin should be compensated for his leasehold interest. Here again the answer is an emphatic yes.

¹Judge Fratto acknowledged in his opinion that had the City just condemned the building without purchasing it and assuming Mr. Martin's lease first, then the condemnation provisions in Article XIX would have been triggered. (Addendum Exhibit E.) As it is, the City must live with the consequences of the manner in which it chose to acquire the building and Mr. Martin's leasehold.

A condemning authority *must pay* for property it takes. Article I, § 22 of the Utah Constitution says, “Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.”² In addition, not only is the City under a constitutional mandate to pay for property it condemns, the general common law rule is that everyone with an interest in the property taken is entitled to share in the condemnation award. As the City observes in its memorandum, “The basic common law rule is that a lessee may share, with the lessor, eminent domain compensation to the extent of the lessee’s interest.” (Appellant’s Brief, at 9.) Hence, in a generic condemnation of leased premises, the general rule is that both the landlord and the tenant share in the award. However, as the City goes on to observe, “the parties may agree otherwise in their lease.” (*Id.* See also *Fiberglas Fabricators, Inc. v. Kylberg*, 799 P.2d 371, 377 (Colo. 1990).³

²See also, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10.5: (1) As provided by Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution, immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for the recovery of compensation from the governmental entity when the governmental entity has taken or damaged private property for public uses without just compensation. (2) Compensation and damages shall be assessed according to the requirements of Title 78, Chapter 34, Eminent Domain.

See also, Utah Code Annotated § 78-34-10(1): The court, jury or referee must hear such legal evidence as may be offered by any of the parties to the proceedings, and thereupon must ascertain and assess: (1) the value of the property sought to be condemned and all improvements thereon appertaining to the realty, and of each and every separate estate or interest therein; and if it consists of different parcels, the value of each parcel and of each estate or interest therein shall be separately assessed.

³Specifically, the *Fiberglas* court said: “While it is true that the common-law rule permits the lessee to share in condemnation proceeds to the extent of his or her leasehold interest, . . . the parties to a lease agreement may properly agree that the lease agreement shall terminate upon condemnation, and that as a result the lessee shall

The City wants the Court to believe that the no-tenant-compensation provisions in §§ 19.01 and 19.04 of the lease constitute an absolute bar to Mr. Martin's share in any condemnation award in this case. The City's position is fundamentally flawed for three reasons: 1) the City did not acquire Mr. Martin's leasehold in a way that triggered the condemnation provisions; 2) the lease does not contemplate what happens when only the tenant's interest is condemned while the Landlord's underlying fee is not; and 3) there *is* no condemnation award to be paid to anybody, except the City. Each of these points will be treated in turn.

1. The City did not acquire Mr. Martin's leasehold in a way that triggered the condemnation provisions of the lease.

The City's argument that Mr. Martin is cut off from sharing in the condemnation award might have merit if the City had condemned the entire building. But the City did not condemn the entire building. Rather, the City entered into a Real Estate Purchase Agreement with Heartland, the original landlord, to purchase the building. (Addendum Exhibit C.) In connection with the purchase of the building, the City executed an Assignment of Leases, pursuant to which the City agreed, twice, to be bound by the terms of the leases of the respective tenants in the building, including Mr. Martin.⁴ (Addendum

not be entitled to share in the condemnation proceeds." *Fiberglass*, at 377.

⁴In the Assignment of Leases signed by the City, Heartland assigned to the City "its entire interest as lessor under the leases. . . ." The Assignment then says, "[the City] hereby accepts such assignment and *assumes all obligations and liabilities of [Heartland] thereunder.*" (Emphasis Added.) (Addendum Exhibit B.) Four paragraphs

Exhibit B.) Judge Fratto held that the City's purchase of the building in this manner did not rise to the level of condemnation or the exercise of eminent domain required to trigger § 19.01 and § 19.04 of the lease, and rightly so. Stepping into the shoes of the landlord and agreeing to be bound by the terms of the leases is inconsistent with the City's argument that it purchased the building "for a public purpose." It is also contrary to Utah law.

The City became a commercial landlord when it assumed Mr. Martin's lease and agreed to be bound by its terms. Utah's governmental immunity statute states that governmental entities are not immune for breach of contractual obligations such as those in Mr. Martin's lease. Specifically, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5(1) states, "Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived as to any contractual obligation. . . ." In addition, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-4(1)(b) says, "If immunity from suit is waived by this chapter, consent to be sued is granted, *and liability of the entity shall be determined as if the entity were a private person.*" (Emphasis added.) In other words, if a governmental entity enters into a contract, it is bound by the provisions of that contract just like anybody else. By stepping into the shoes of the landlord and assuming Mr. Martin's lease, the City

later, as if to make sure there is no misunderstanding, the Assignment again says, "[The City] hereby accepts the assignment of the Leases on the terms described herein and *agrees to be bound by the terms thereof.*" (Emphasis added.) (*Id.*) Clearly the City stepped into the shoes of Heartland as the landlord of the Leased Premises and obligated itself to abide by the terms of Mr. Martin's Lease as any other commercial landlord.

bound itself to abide by the terms of the Lease and became liable for the breach of that lease just as a regular commercial landlord would be. Judge Fratto was therefore correct to hold that the City's purchase of the building in this manner did not rise to the level of condemnation or eminent domain that would trigger §§ 19.01 and 19.04 of the lease.

2. The no tenant compensation provision does not apply to this situation.

Furthermore, the no-tenant-compensation provision in the lease does not apply in any case. The only interest left standing after the City's acquisition of the building was Mr. Martin's leasehold. The City owned everything else. Sections 19.01 and 19.04 presume that *both* the landlord and Mr. Martin will have an interest in the property at the time of condemnation, and that both of those interests will be condemned. Under those circumstances, provisions 19.01 and 19.04 provide that Mr. Martin "shall not be entitled to any part of the award paid for such condemnation. . . ." (Appellant's Addendum Exhibit B, § 19.04.)

Here, the City did not condemn the landlord's interest. The City already owned that interest by virtue of its purchase of the building and its execution of the Assumption Agreement, whereby the City literally stepped into the shoes of the landlord. It is a legal impossibility for a condemning authority to take property it already owns. The only interest the City condemned was Mr. Martin's leasehold. The Lease does not address this situation at all. Judge Fratto correctly filled the gap by ruling that the lease terminated as

a matter of law, that neither party had any claim against the other under the lease and that the issue of just compensation must go to trial.

3. According to the City, no condemnation award is owed to anyone.

At this point it is important to note the City argues exclusively that Mr. Martin is not entitled to a portion of the condemnation award. Nowhere in the City's brief does the City say who *is* entitled to the award. Again, under the Utah constitution, the eminent domain statute and common law, the condemning authority must pay *someone* for the value of the property taken. The City never says who that is in this case. This is because the answer, according to the City's reasoning, is no one, except, perhaps, the City itself.

The only entity with an interest in the premises, besides Mr. Martin, is the City. If the provisions of section 19.04 are to be strictly construed, the City, as condemnor, must pay the entire condemnation award *to itself* as landlord. This is a very clever thing for the City to do. Through the magic combination of condemnation and contract law the City has devised a way to condemn property without having to pay a penny of just compensation. According to the City all it has to do is buy out the original landlord's interest, step into the landlord's shoes, condemn the tenants out of their property, pay *itself* the condemnation awards and, abracadabra, the City acquires a building for far less than the fair market value of the property. This result is unacceptable, not to mention unconstitutional. The City *must* pay just compensation for property it takes to the owner

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